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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Mr. and Mrs. George Lewis II House is a two-story residence
typical of Frank Lloyd Wright's circular or "hemicycle" mode. It is
situated in a wooded setting on the outskirts of the developed suburban
area of Tallahassee and sits on a gentle slope overlooking a spring and
a narrow stream.

The plan of the house is characterized by both concentric and inter-
secting circles. The plan of the main bloc is composed of intersecting
circles resembling a footbkhall or a boat. A circular form intersects the
main bloc on its west side and houses the kitchen, bath, heating, plumbing,
and ventilation facilities for the house. A wedge-shaped carport extends
from the west side of the main bloc and terminates with a storage room.
Most of the northern half of the house is clasped by a circular form
containing a grass terrace.

The Lewis House exhibits many of the characteristics consistent int
Wright's designs. Horizontal lines are emphasized both in the overall
composition and in the treatment of surface materials. The circular forms
of the plan are echoed in the elevations in the treatment of some windows
and fixtures. Surface interest is derived from normally treated and
strongly contrasted structural materials.

The house sits on a poured concrete slab with subterranean pilings;
red pigment was mixed with the concrete and the smoothly finished slab
is exposed as the Surface for the first floor. The walls of the first
story and the entire height of the utilities core is constructed of
"Ocala"l concrete block with deeply raked horizontal joints. The un-=
painted block is exposed on both interior and exterior surfaces. Almost
the entire expanse of the arc on the east side of the house is composed
of wood-framed fixed plate glass which rises from the first floor to the
two-story ceiling. The second story overhang and its cantilevered bal-
conies are of wood frame sheathed by red cypress weatherboard; the second
story is supported, in part, by 3/4" steel rods suspended from the steel
beams of the roof. The frame walls have no interior finish materials,
thus exposing the back side of the weatherboarding and the carefully
framed studs and plates. The overhanging flat roof is framed with steel
beams and cypress rafters and has a built-up surface.

The long horizontal lines of the west or entrance facade of the
house are«interrupted by a low carport and the circular utility core
which rises approximately two feet above the main roof. The windows on
the entrance facade are typically Wrightian -- relatively small and
situated at the top of wall sections. The windows on the first story
are wood-framed inverted circular arches which terminate at the overhanging
second story. The windows on the second story are rectangular, wood-
framed awning windows that run in a continuous ribbon immediately below .
the ceiling line.

See Continuation Sheet
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Mr. and Mrs. George Lewis II House, built in 1954, was designed
by the renowned American architect Frank Lloyd Wright and remains es-
sentially unaltered from its original appearance. Although less than 50
years old, it is of exceptional importance for several reasons: It is
associated with Wright and represents the last and chronologically shortest
stylistic phase of his career, the "hemicycle" phase. It is one of only
two surviving sites in Florida that were designed by Wright.l 1In addition,
it is the only house designed by Wright that survives in Florida.

) In 1950, Mr. and Mrs. George Lewis II were considering building a new
house. Mrs. Lewis had recently been attracted to the designs of Frank
Lloyd Wright and had actively studied his work. 1In part because of the
encouragement of an architéctural student and family friend, Mr. Ernest
Daffin, the Lewises went to Lakeland, Florida to attend a conference of
World Federalists and to meet Wright who was to be there to participate

in the dedication of his newly completed administration building for the
Florida Southern College campus. Mrs. Lewis arranged to accompany Wright
on an impromptu tour of the campus, and when the opportunity arose, asked
him if he could "design a house for someone with a lot of children and

not much money?" Wright indicated that he would undertake the project

if the Lewises would first find their building site and send him a
topographical map of it. By 1952, Wright had completed plans for the Lewis
House. ’

The unconventional characteristics of Wright's design made it diffi-
cult for the Lewises to find a contractor who was willing to project a cost
estimate for construction of the house, or even to take on the job.
Finally, in 1954 Wright sent Mr. Nils Schweizer, A Taliesin Fellow and his
representative in the Southeast, to Tallahassee to assist in the effort
to find a contractor. With the hﬁ&p of Ernest Daffin, Schweizer persuaded
Jack Culpepper of Culpepper Construction Company in Tallahassee to under-
take the project. ¥ .

ﬁﬁ :

Construction of the house bﬁgan in April of 1954 with Ernest Daffin
serving as construction superv1§gf. Since Wright had never visited the
building site, Nils Schweizer continued as liaison for the architect,
making adjustments to the original plans to accomodate peculiarities of

See Continuatfon Sheet
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The east or garden facade of the house is composed almost entirely
of a curtain wall of fixed plate glass. The wood framing of this glass
is articulated primarily by a fixed glass transom which is a continuation
of the narrow ribbon windows that occur on the second story of the
ehtrance facade. This glass wall is penetrated at its north and south
extremities by cantilevered balconies on the second story.

The main entry is situated under the carport roof and immediately
to the north of the utilities core. The wood-framed glass door opens
to a landing from which stairs ascend and descend to the first and
second floors. Under these stairs another flight descends to a small
circular cellar which houses the oil furnace forced air: system and some
storage space.

The first floor space is entirely open except for the partial en-
closure of the circular workspace (kitchen). Spatial definition is
provided by the walls of the workspace, the circular fireplace hood,
the ceiling under the second story space, and the built-in dining table
and living room bench. Primary seating in the living room is adjacent
to the fireplace on a low wood seat which runs the entire length of
the west wall. This area is provided a strong sense of enclosure by
the low ceiling under the second story, but the vista is toward a two-
story space and the glass '"rear" wall. A pair of tall wood-framed,
glazed double doors lead from this living space to the terrace on the
east side.

Access to the bedrooms, bathrooms and exterior balconies on the
second floor is along a narrow balcony which overlooks a portion of the
living room and the glass wall. Two small bathrooms are located within
the circular utilities core and are lighted from above by a "bubble"
skylight. The master bedroom is immediately to the south of the bath-
rooms and has a circular hooded fireplace. Next, to the south, is a
smaller bedroom; this is followed by a larger bedroom, originally
intended for three children, with direct access to the exterior balcony
at the south end of the house.

Interior decorative interest is provided by the natural colors,
textures and arrangement of the exposed structural materials. Only
the ceilings are plastered and these are unpainted. All doors and
operable windows are hung with exposed brass piano hinges; all other
hardware is also of brass. All lighting fixtures are within 9" square

See Continuation Sheet
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boxes recessed in the ceilings and covered by frosted glass with wood
lath frames.
A circular terraced area was established on the east side and

north end of the exterior. However, a low block wall intended to en-
close the terrace and a semi-circular pool were never completed.

locala block is a concrete block made in Florida with certain
sands that give the finished material a light tan color.
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the site, local building codes and financial requirements. It was
apparent that the pipe clay 3ubsurface of the site would require a more
substantial foundation than Wright had originally intended. Rather than
a simple concrete slab, Schweizer directed that large pits be excavated
at close intervals and concrete piers be poured to provide additional
support and buoyancy to the slab. The cost of this adjustment and the
needs of the Lewises required that other changes be made to the original
plan including minor changes to the bedrooms, conversion of the single
bathroom area into two smaller bathrooms, and redesign of the utility/tool
room. When construction terminated in December of 1954, cost escalation
had precluded the completion of certaiz landscaping features, the terrace
pool and portions of the terrace wall.

The Lewis House is similar to the earliest known "hemicycle," the
Lloyd Burlingham Residence in El Paso, Texas (1941). That house and sub-
sequent Wright buildings were characterized by plans composed of both
concentric and intersecting circles.5 Atypical of common American
building practices of the period, the Lewis House was also a radical
statement within the conservative architectural traditions of Tallahassee.

1

The other site is the Florida Southern College Architectural Dis-
trict (National Register) in Lakeland. Another building, the Villa
Koehne, built in Palm Beach in 1913, was a Wright commission probably
designed by Walter Burley Griffin; however, this building was demolished
in 1975.

2Mrs. George Lewis, II, personal interview by Ron Jones and J.
Rodney Little, Tallahassee, Florida, 1976-77.

3Mr. Jack Culpepper, Mr. Ernest Daffin, Mrs. George Lewis, II, and
Mr. Nils Schweizer, personal interviews by Ron Jones and J. Rodney Little,
Tallahassee and Orlando, Florida, 1976-77.

4Mrs. George Lewis II and Mr Nils Schweizer, personal interviews
by Ron Jones and J. Rodney Little, Tallahassee and Orlando, Florida, 1976-
77:; Mr. and Mrs. George Lewis II House Blueprints of original plans, in
possession of Mr. and Mrs. George Lewis, II, Tallahassee, Florida.

5Edgar Kaufmann and Ben Raeburn, Selected Writings and Buildings of
Frank Llovd Wright (New York City: Horizon Press, 1960), pp. 148, 234.
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